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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

MYKAL HALL ,
Petitioner Civ. No. 15-4416KLW)
V. :
UNITED STATES OFAMERICA, :. OPINION
Respondent.

FREDA L. WOLFSON, U.S.D.J.

l. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Mykal Hall (“Hall” or “Petitioner”)is afederal prisoner proceedipgo se
with a motion to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. For the
following reasonsHall’s § 2255 motions denied

I. BACKGROUND AND PLEADINGS
A. The Underlying Criminal Proceeding

Hall was arrested on July 8, 2013, on a criminal complaint charging him with one count
of assaulting a person having custody of United States property, with intent to rabaiioniof
18 U.S.C. § 2114 SeeUnited States v. HallCrim. No. 13-684 (FLW) (D.N.J.), Compl., ECF
No. 1. TheComplaint alleged that, between February and May of 2013, Hall sold to a
confidential source seven firearms, including two sawed-off shotguns, one of eltia
defaced serial numbetd., Attach A, T 1. It alleged that Hall and the confidential soageed
to meet on June 8, 2013 for another firearms sale and that Hall showed the confidentia source
handgun before stating that he had to go get a bag containing othetdjJiffs3-4. The

Complaint alleged that Hall returned, accompanied by anp#rsonultimately determined to
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be codefendant Lachtavo R. Narftidance”), that Hall placed a bag in the trunk of the
confidential source’s vehicland that Nance then robbed the confidential source of the purchase
money at gunpoint. Id. 11 5-6.

A grand jury returned a two-count indictment on October 17, 2013, charging Hall and
Nance in CountOneg with assault with intent to rob property of the United States in violation of
18 U.S.C. 88 2 and 2114 and, in Cotinto, with use of a firearm in relain to a crime of
violence in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2 an@4(c)(1)(a)(ii). Crim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 12.
Thegrand jury subsequently returned a superseding, three-count indictment, which added a
charge ofengaging in the business of dealing firearms without a license in violation of 18 U.S.C.
88 2 and®22(a)(1)(A). Id., ECF No. 18. In May 2014, this Court dismissed without prejudice
the assault charge against Hall based on a violation of the Speedy Triédl ABICF Nos. 34—
36. One week later, a grand jury returned a second superseding indictment, witbumitse
against HalP for dealing firearms without a license under 18 U.S.C. §§ Daa(h)(1)(A)
(Count One), two counts of possession of an unregistered short-barreled shotgun under 18 U.S.C.
§ 2 and 26 U.S.C. 88 5841, 5861(d), and 5871 (Counts Two and Four), two counts of delivery of
an unregistered short-barreled shotgun under 18 U.S.C. § 2 and 26 U.S.C. 88 5841, 5861(j), and
5871 (Count§ hreeand Si¥, possession of a firearm with a defaced serial number under 18
U.S.C. 82 and 26 U.S.C. 88 5842, 5861(h), and 5871 (Count Five), conspiracy to commit Hobbs
Act robbery under 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Count Seven), and, as in the first superseding indictment,

assault with intent to rob property of the United States under 18 U.S.C. 88 2 and 2114 and

! The bag placed in the truakparentlycontained only bricks.

2 Prior to the second superseding indictment, the charges against Nance had beshbgsolv
plea agreementSeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 21-23 & 37.
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possession of a firearm in relation to a crime of violence in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2 and
924(c)(1)(a)(ii)(Counts Eight and Nine)ld., ECF No. 38.

On dune 18, 2014Hall pleaded guilty before this Court to Count Four of the Second
Superseding Indictmerfipr possession of an unregistered, short-barreled shét¢gminECF
Nos. 42—-44, 49 As part of the plea agreement, Hall waived his right to filageal, collateral
attack, or challenge to a sentence within the range set forth by the United Staexifg
Guidelines for an offense level of 2&1., ECF No. 44 11 12-13. On November 24, 2014, this
Court sentenced Hall to 108 months of imprisonment, to be followed by three years of
supervised releas€Crim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 47-48, 56.

B. The § 2255 Motion

OnJune 25, 2015;all, actingpro se filed a 8 2255 motion to vacate, set aside, or
correct his sentencdECF No. 1.) The Couddministratively terminated the petitiasHall’s
motionwas not submitted on the proper form, as required by Local Civil Rule 81.2(a). (Order
(July 8 2015), ECF No. 2.Hall shortly thereafter filed a new § 2255 motion, whaslserts
three grounds for reliefyhich are all based on a theory of ineffectiveistance of counsel.Sée
ECF Nos. 3 & 3-1.) Hall contends that his counsel misinformed him regarding the potantial f
sentencing enhancements, allegedly leading Hall to belieweould receiva prison sentence of
no morethan 36 months if he accepted the plea deal, and Hall asserts that he would have gone to
trial but for this advice. (Mem. of Points & Authorities, ECF No. 3-1, at 20—Pfall also
alleges that his attorney was ineffective by failing to object to the govatiznuse of

“sentencingactor manipulatioyi by failing to argue that Hall's sentence was substantively

3 The details of Hall's plea hearing are further discussed in the Courtisisnai his habeas
clams,infra.



unreasonable, and Iigiling to object to a sentent@sed on insufficientlgstablishedacts. (d.
at 23-26.)

On April 7, 2016, Hall filed a “Motion to Amend and Supplement the Record,” in which
he seeks to add a claim that his sentencing enhanceviwated the Supreme Court’s holding
in Johnson v. Untied Stateg35 S. Ct. 2551 (2015). (ECF No. 7.) In October 2017, Hall filed
another motion seeking tomend his petitin by alleging that his counsel provided ineffective
assistance by failing to challenge the sentence taoleemond v. United Staté&&2 U.S. 65
(2014). (ECF No. 10.)

The government filed an Answer opposing Hall's § 2255 motion, which included an
affidavit from the attorney who represented Hall during the plea and sentstagay Scott
Krasny (“Krasny”), as well as copies of correspondence between Krasny andEGHF Nos.

11 through 11-3.)
. ANALYSIS
A. Legal Standards

To grant relief on éederalprisoner’'smotion to vacate, set asid®,correct a sentence
under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, the Court must find that “there has been such a denial or infringement of
the constitutional rights of the prisoner as to render the judgment vulnerable terab#tack.”

28 U.S.C. § 2255(b). “In considering a motion to va@tefendaiht sentencethe court must
accept the truth of the movant's factual allegations unless they atg frigalous based on the
existing record.” United States v. Bootd32 F.3d 542, 545 (3d Cir. 2005) (quoti@gv't of VI.

v. Forte,865 F.2d 59, 62 (3d Cir. 1989\ district court “is required to hold an evidentiary
hearing uinless the motion and files and records of the case show conclusively that Hr imov

notentitled to relief.” Id. (quotingForte, 865 F.2d at 62).



The bulk of Hall’'s arguments are framed as ckaiian ineffective assistance of trial
counsel. $eeECF Nos. 3-& 10.) The Sixth Amendment guarantedefendanteffective
assistance of counsaliring critical portions of a criminal proceedingeelafler v. Cooper566
U.S. 156, 165 (2012). The Supreme Courstinckland v. Washingtod,66 U.S. 668 (1984),
articulateda two-prong burden for demonstratitige ineffectiveness afounsel (1) that,
considering all relevant circumstances, counsel’s performance fell beloljetive standard of
reasonableness and (2) that the petitioner suffered prejudice as altesul68&-96;see also
Preston v. Superintendent Graterford SCI_ F.3d __ , 2018 WL 4212055, at *9, *12 (3d Cir.
Sept. 5, 2018)Grant v. Lockett709 F.3d 224, 232 (3d Cir. 2013).

In addressing the first prong, tpetitioner must identify the acts or omissioas
counselkhat are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment
Strickland,466 U.S. at 690Judicialscrutiny of counsel's conduct must be “highly deferential.”
See idat 689.“[CJounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered ade@ssistance and made
all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional jutdgnietrat 690. The
reviewing court must make every effort to “eliminate the distorting effedtgnasight, to
reconstruct the circumstances of coursseliallenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from
counsels perspective at the timeld. at 689. Counsel’s strategic choices made after thorough
investigation of theelevant law and facts are “virtually unchallengedhbhehile choices made
with less tharentirely thorough investigation “are reasonable precisely to the extent that
reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigatioai’690-91see
also Rolan v. Vaughd45 F.3d 671, 682 (3d Cir. 200&ov't of V.lL.v. Weatherwax77 F.3d

1425, 1432 (3d Cir. 1996 Whether counsel acted in a manner that was deficient is measured by



a standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional ndatngKland 466 U.S. at
687-88;see also Wiggs v. Smith539 U.S. 510, 521 (2003).

The second prong of titricklandtest requires the petitioner to affirmatively prove
resultingprejudice. See466 U.S at 693Prejudice iggenerallyfound where “there is a
reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result oiciexiprg
would have been different.ld. at 694. A reasonable probability is “a probability sufficient to
undermine confidence in the oumge.” Id.; see also McBride v. Superintendent, SCI Houtzdale,
687 F.3d 92, 102 n.11 (3d Cir. 2012). “This does not require that counsel's actions more likely
than not altered the outcome, but the difference bet®takland'sprejudice standard and a
more-probablethannot standard is slight and matters only in the rarest case. The likelihood of a
different result must be substantial, not just conceivalifafrington v. Richter562 U.S. 86,
111-12 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citationtted.

In the context oplea agreementshis prejudice requirement “focuses on whether
counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcone pli¢a process.”
Hill v. Lockhart 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)[T]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have
insisted on going to trial.'ld.; see alsd_ee v. United State437 S. Ct. 1958, 1965 (2017);
Lafler v. Cooper566 U.S. 156, 162—63 (2012)nited States \desusNunez 576 F. App’x 103,
105 (3d Cir. 2014). In considering whether the prejudice prong has been satisfied, the Court
must consider the strength of the underlying evideSseSaranchak v. Bear®16 F.3d 292,
311 (3d Cir. 2010).

The StricklandCourt made clear that a court may apply the two prongs in whatever order

it sees fit. 466 U.S. at 697 [A] court need not determine whether coursspérformance was



deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a féselabayed
deficiencies . .. Ifitis easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of
sufficient prejudice . . . that course should be followedé&e alsdrainey v. Varner603 F.3d
189, 201 (3d Cir. 2010).

B. Alleged Misadvice as to Likely Sentence

As outlined abovetiall first asserts that his counsel misled him into believing that if he
accepted the plea deal he would likely receive a maximum sentence of 36 ofonths
imprisonment, thus causing him to acceptea at issugSeeECFNo. 3-1at21, 24.) Hall
contends that, “but for petitioner’s trial counsel’s misadvice which led to the imguntef his
entering a plea of guilty, the petitioner would definitely have gone to tr{ld."at 22.)

Hall's assertions that he only accepted the plea agreement because his caledel mi
him as to theluration of hissentenceesulting fromthe plea deal aneot supportedby the
evidencan the record The government submits an affidavit from Krasny, in wipicar
counselndicates thatwhen the governmenir$t offered a plea deal whereby Hall would plead
guilty to possession of an unregistered, short-barreled shotgun, Krasny infoathdthtithe
plea contained a stipulation to a Sentencing Guidelines offense level of 31, whichegi@duc
sentencing rangef 108 to 135 months withoenhhancement®r criminal history. (Krasny Aff.,
ECF No. 11-1918-19.) Krasny also includes a copy of a letter he sent Hall at that time, which
explained that the offered plea deal included an agreement that Hall's adjffistee level
would be 31 and that “[t]hat would produce a guideline sentence between 108 to 135 months in
criminal history category | and a higher guideline sentenj¢taif] had any criminal history.”
(Krasny Aff., Ex. A, Letter from Scott A. Krasng Mykal Hall (Apr. 1, 2014), ECF No. 11-2¢

A-14 to A-15.) Krasnys letteralsoinformed Hallthat the statutory maximum sentence for the



offense would be ten years, and that the sentence would thus not exceed that digigtion. (
Krasnyattess that Hall rejected the plea deal at that tifECF No. 11-1 § 19.)

Krasny further recounts that, on June 2, 2014, after the Second Superseding Indictment,
he went to the jail where Hall was detained presented the government’s second plea offer to
Hall, explainingthe sentencing guidelines at an offense level of 29. (ECF Nb.f128-29.)
Krasnyexplains that, while going over this proposal with Hall, he “performed calculation
example [sic] using the maximum of the guideline range and explaieguiion exposure to
Hall”; Krasny includes a copgf his handwrittersentencingalculations (Id. § 29; ECF No.

11-2 at A5.) Krasnystateghat he again met with Hall a few days later and that, when Hall
asked about the shortest possible sentenceuld receive, Krasny calculated tl&at months

would be the low end of the guidelines sentence. (ECF No. 11-1 1 30.) Krasny also includes a
copy of handwritten calculations based ort thgothetical (ECF No. 112 at A4.) Krasny

indicates that Haltlecided to accept the plea deal and signed the plea agreement immediately
following this discussion. (ECF No. 11-1 1 3@&ge alscCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 44 (plea
agreement signed by Hall, dated Jun2®L4). Hall did not file any reply brief or otherwise
dispute Krasny’s representations.

During the June 18, 2014 plea hearing before this Court, Hall indicated that he had read
the plea agreement, discussed it with Krasny, and fully understood its terims.NG. 13-684,

Tr. of Plea Hr'g (June 18, 2014), ECF No. 49, &.7Hall indicated that he entered into the plea
agreement of his own free will because he was guittyat 9. Hall specifically indicated that he
understood that he waived his right tgpapl any sentence that fell within or below the
Sentencing Guidelines range fuffense level 291d. at 16-11. The Court explained to Hall the

penalties resulting from the charge to which he was pleading, including a prigencseof up



to10 years, athHall confirmedhis understanding in that regandl. at 13-14. The Court then
explained the function and discretionary nature of the Sentencing Guidelines,|laagaita
confirmed his understandindd. at 14-17. Hall specifically remarkethat he mderstood that he
would “not be able to withdraw [his] plea on the ground that anyone’s prediction as to the
Guideline range proved to be inaccurate” and that “the sentence imposed magreatdifbm
any estimate [his] attorney may have given [himf’ at 16-17. Hall further admitted
committing the elements of the chatgevhichhe was pleadingndadmitted tathe underlying
facts of the firearms salesd. at 26-23. Followingthese concessionslall entered a plea of
guilty to the charge, and the Court found that his plea was knowing and voluldtaay 23-24.

Krasnyexplainsthat, following the plea hearinglall sent Krasny a letter indicating his
beliefthatthe Court would imposa sentence of betwe®&4 and109 months oimprisonment
and asking whether the probation office could recommend a lighter sentencg; ikidsdes a
copy of this letter. (ECF No. 1147 3+32;Krasny Aff., Ex. A, Letter from Mykal Hall to
Scott Krasny (July 7, 2014), ECF No. 2%t A38.) Inresponse, Krasny sent a letiemHall
explaining that, at offense level 29, Hall would face a sentence of 87 to 108 months and opining
that it was unlikely the probation office would recommend a lower sentence; Krasalsba
included a copy of this letter. (ECF No. 11-1 T 33; Krasny Aff., Ex. A, Letter Soatt A.
Krasny to Mykal Hall (July 16, 2014), ECF No. 2lat A-3.)

During Hall’'s sentencing on November 24, 2014, this Court noted that it would follow
the parties’ stipulation as to a typoint ofenselevel enhancement because the underlying
transactions involved three to eight guns, rather than the PresentencingsRegortimendation
of a four-point enhancement due to the transaction involving eight guns. Crim. No. 13-684, Tr.

of Sentence (Naw24, 2014), ECF No. 56, at 4. The Court, considering the circumstances, found



that Hall's adjusted offense level was 29, the same level stipulated to by the ipattie plea
agreementld. at6—7. The Court determined that Hall had a criminal history level of 3 and that,
in conjunction with the offense level of 29, the Guideline range was 108 to 135 months, limited
by the 120-month maximum sentence under the applicable statuéd.7-8. Considering all
applicable circumstances, the Court sergdndall to 108 monthsf imprisonment.ld. at 15-
20.

The aboveecounted circumstances clearly reblall’'s assertionshat the representation
by Hall's trial counsel was deficient or that such deficiency causecahgfirejudice. Everf
one ofHall’'s attorney$ at some point, prior to the plea hearing, suggestethlichat he could
only receive a 38nonth prison sentence as part of a plea deal, it is clear that, by the time Hall
accepted the plea agreement, he had a full and accurate urglagstdrhissentencing
guidelines, and in that regattie range of potential sentenceSe€ECF No. 11-2, at A-4 to A-
5, A-14 to A-15.) See alsaCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 44; Crim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 49 at 7—
17. Indeed, Hall stated under oath, in open court, that he had discussed the plea agidement
Krasny and understood its terms, that he was accepting the plea deal of hiseowifi, ftieat he
understood that he was stipulating to a Guidelines offense level of 2Betkaéw the
maximum prisa sentence was 10 yeaasid that he understood that his attorney’s
representations as to a likely sentence mightestlt Crim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 49 at 7-17.

Furthermore, Hall's representations that he “definitely” would have chogaodeedo
trial, rather than accept the plea deal, had his counsel provided accurate advicelgrgosimp

credible. The“victim” to whom Hall repeatedly sold firearms, and who was ultimately robbed,

4 Hall was initially represented in the criminal proceeding by Joshua L. Mitzko
(“Markowitz”). After thereturnof the first superseding indictment, and at Hall's request, the
representation by Markowitz was terminated, and Hall was assigned Kraspydeent him.
SeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 24, 26-27.
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was a confidential source, and thilgse interactions were capdron audio and video
recordings.SeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 1, Atth. A. By the time Hall accepted his plea, he
had been indicted by a grand jury on nine charges relating to firearm posséssarm dealing,
assaultand conspiracy to commit robberyjmes with maximum sentences ranging from five to
20 years, as wedlsbrandishinga firearm in connection with a felonynder which a minimum
sevenyear sentenceould have been addédatwould runconsecutive to any other sentence
SeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 38. | do not find convinchigll's argument thabad he
properly understood that the plea deal would likely result in a prison sentence of mg)dgea
would instead have chosen to go to trial on a nine-count indictment. Inoldleel face of
mounting evidence from a confidential source and audio-video recordings of the atimes
trial, Hall would almost certainlface a substantially longer sentendéénder these
circumstances, Hall has not met his burden of demonstrating prejudice frontegeyg al
ineffective assistance of couns@&ee United States v. Babalof8 F. App’x 409, 414 (3d Cir.
2007) (“In light of the overwhelming evidence of her guilt and the lenity of thergment’s
plea offer, it is highly unlikely that Babalola would have risked a trial whichevigence shows
in any event almostertainly would have resulted in a conviction and imprisonmBabalola
has thus failed to demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that,douinfee!’s error,
the result of the proceeding would have been different.” (internal quotation marksaioah Ci
omitted));see alsdzarcia v. United State€iv. A. No. 12-3020, 2014 WL 4352307, at *5
(D.N.J. Sept. 2, 2014%5udiel-Soto v. United Stateg6l F. Supp. 2d 234, 241 (D.N.J. 2011).

In anyevent the Third Circuit has also held “that an erroneous sentencing prediction by
counsel is not ineffective assistance of counsel where, as here, an adequatarpigamMas

conducted.”United States v. Shedrick93 F.3d 292, 299 (3d Cir. 2007) (citibgited States v.
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Jones 336 F.3d 245, 254 (3d Cir. 2003)). “[D]efense counsel’s conjectures to his client about
sentencing are irrelevant where the written plea agreement-aodringuilty plea colloquy
clearly establish the defendant’s maximum poteniipbsure and the sentencing court’s
discretion.” Id. As Hall fails to meet his burden of showing either the deficiency or the
prejudice prongelatedto his acceptance of the plea, relief on Ground One is denied.

C. Alleged Failure to Object to “Sentencing Factor Manipulation”

Hall's second ground for reliefoncerns his counsel’s alleged failure to object to
“sentencing factor manipulation” by the governmef8eeECF No. 3-l1at 23-24.) Hall argues
that his attorney “allowed the government, and the taaftcto grossly enlarge the scope of him
[sic] crime for which he was being charged, and used the multiple chargesragéeto extract,
or secure an [sic] longer sentence on the {mxkat the sentencing phase by applyindeléls
of enhancements.”ld. at 23.)

“Sentencing factor manipulation” is the term applied by courts in some citatién the
government unfairly exaggerates the defendant’s sentencing range bygngaglongeithan
needed investigation and, thus, increasing the drug quantities for which the defendant is
responsiblé. SeeUnited States v. Se@01 F.3d 224, 229, 231 (3d Cir. 2010). The Third Circuit
hasconsistently declined to address the question of whether a thesegtehcing factor
manipulationmay be assertedlithin this Circuit Id. at 229—-30see alsdJnited States v.
Washington869 F.3d 193, 210 (3d Cir. 201 Dnited States v. Whitfiel®49 F. App’'x 192, 199
(3d Cir. 2016).

Applying the highly deferential examination requiredSiyickland the Court finds that
Hall fails to meet his burden of showing that his counsel was deficient by failnagse a legal

theory that has not been recognized as the law within this Circuit and which,appéoable, is
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primarily applied in drug casesSeeSed 601 F.3d at 229, 231. Furthermore, Hall does not
demonstrate any resulting prejudice, as he cannot show a reasonable probattitieyabhtcome
would have been different had his counsel raised a sentefacitogsmanipulation argument.
SeeStrickland 466 U.S at 694. Even if this Cowvere to entertain the theory of sentencing
factor manipulation, there is no indication that this theory whaide applied to reduce Hall's
sentence Here, it appears that Hall maintains ttieg government manipulated lsisntencing
factors byintentionallyengagng in additional gun transactions, atteéreby,ncreasing the
number of guns involved. That argument does not hold water, hovbeoayse the
Presentencing Report irdited that the underlying transactions had involved eight guns, yet the
government agreed to stipulate that the underlying transactions involved “thrgktt@ans.
SeeéWashington869 F.3d at 210-11 (“[E]Jven assuming some impropriety here on the part of the
government, most of the factors it created for the crime, and which wera #stbnique
control, were not the drivers of Washington’s actual sentendadged, because of the
government’s stipulatiorjall was subject to a lesser sentebased on three to eight guns
rather than a longer one based on eight g&eeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 56, at 3—&his
does not evince a scheme by the government to unduly inflate Hall’s sentence.
Additionally, in considering sentencirigetar-manipulation argumentthe Third Circuit
hasadvisedthat“it does not offend due process for the police to ‘persist in ascertaining what
guantity [of drugs a defendant is] willing and able to degk&d 601 F.3d aR31 (quoting
United States v. Shephadi F.3d 647, 649 (8th Cir. 1993) (alterations in original)). This logic
appears applicable in the government’s attempts to continue buying guns fitorihéaT hird
Circuit additionally citing approvingly thdtthe ultimate seizure of a larger quéw of illegal

drugs from a suspect in connection with the arrest has positive societal consecradossting
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illegal drugs from society is a legitimate, if not the primary, goal of drug esrizent officials.
Id. (quotingUnited States v. Lace$6 F.3d 956, 965 (10th Cir. 1996)). Thesisoningappears
to apply even more forcefully to the government’s efforts to remove dangerous agisiened
firearms from the streetddaving considered these issues, the Court finds that Hall has not
sustained his burden of demonstrating that relief is warranted on the basis tufrhesyat
failure to present arguments assentencing factor manipulation, and relief on this ground is
denied®
D. Alleged Failure to Argue Substantive Unreasonableness of Sentence

In his third ground for relief, Hall argues that his counsel was deficiefaiilng to argue
that the sentence imposed was substantively unreasonable. (ECF No. 3-1 at 25-26.) In this
ground, Hall argues that his counsel “failed to subject the prosecution to anygfelani
adversarial testing during the plea bargaining process” and that counsel “albenslitt to

sentence petitioner based on judicially found fact&d”) (Hall contends that his “sentence is

5 The Court notes that sentencing factor manipulatisstetimedeen considered in

conjunction with arguments that a conviction is the product of outrageous government conduct,
underUnited States v. Twig®88 F.2d 373 (3d Cir. 1978%eeWashington869 F.3d at 209—

10. InTwigg the Third Circuit conclded that a scheme to manufacture methamphetamine was
substantially engineered liye government, as an informant suppbdchemicals, glassware,

and space used, and as the defendant was essentially subordinate to the infomggns88

F.2d at 375-76, 380-81. Thevigg Court found this governmental conduct outrageous and
consequently reversed the defendant’s convictldnat 380-81.

Hall has noexplicitly raised arwiggoutrageous-conduct argument. Nonetheless, the Court
observes that, even if he had, such argument weaddssarilyail. As the Third Circuit has
recently observed, there is only one reported Court of Appeals decision Basiggthat has
found circumstances justifying the vacatur of a conviction based on outrageousgever
conduct. Washington869 F.3d at 20%ee alsdsreene v. United State454 F.2d 783 (9th Cir.
1971). Furthermore, the evidentiary burden placed on a defendant assévtilgg elaim is
“exceedingly great.” Washington869 F.3d at 210 (quotirignited States v. Denni826 F.3d
683, 694 (3d Cir. 2016))Hall's allegatisns donot come close tehow any outrageous conduct
by the government in this case.
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substantively unreasonable, and must be set-aside under the totalitycottimstances
standard.” Id. at 26.)

Hall's allegations in support of this ground for relief are scattershot antisonc Rule
2 of the Rules Governing 8 2255 Proceedings requires that the motion “state the factsnguppor
each ground [for relief].”"SeeRules Governing § 2255 Proceedings, Rule 2(b)(2), 28 U.S.C.A.
foll. § 2255. A § 2255 motion cannot rest upon vague and conclusory allegations, and such
allegations “may be disposedwithout further investigation by the District CourtUnited
States v. Thomag21 F.3d 430, 437 (3d Cir. 2000) (citibgited States v. Dawsp857 F.2d
923, 928 (3d Cir. 1988))It is impossible to discern from the petition what facts form the basis
for this claim, in what way Hall alleges that his counsel’s representation wagikefc how
such deficiency allegedly resulted in prejudi¢€eeECF No. 3-1 at 25-26.)

Furthermore, \nile a representation may be found deficient where an attorney “entirely
fails to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial te&lim¢gt States v. Cronjc
466 U.S. 648, 659 (1984), there is no suggestiorkifasny, who successfully filed a tian to
dismissa charge under the Speedy Trial Act and who actively negotiated a plea deal on Hall’s
behalf, could be found to have essentially abdicated his ds¢ieSyim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos.
28, 32, 43—-44. Re transcript of the sentencing also makes clear that Krasny actively argue
Hall's behalf for a lower sentenc&eeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 56 at 3-5, 9-11.)

Hall also argues under ground three that his couaeldeficient by “allow[ing] the
court to sentence petitioner based on judicially found facts which led to petitioastimg a
sentences [sic] that was many more time [sic] longer than those the Guidelsregsztwould

have recommended.” (ECF No. 3-1 at 264pll relatedly argues, “Any fact that increases the
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penalty to whth a defendant is exposed constitutes an element of a éqopesndi v. New
Jersey 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and must be found by a jury, not a judépk)” (

In Apprendj the Supreme Court held that “[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any
fact thd increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutamumaxnust be
submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” 530 U.S. at 490. The Third Circuit
has just reaffirmed, however, tha&gprendidoes not apply when a distrmurt makes factual
findings that affect the advisory guidelines but not the statutory maximumted States v.
Gonzalez_ F.3d __ , 2018 WL 4265966, at *27 (3d Cir. Sept. 7, 2@&8)also United
States v. Smitty51 F.3d 107, 117 (3d Cir. 2014)nited States v. Gried75 F.3d 556, 565 (3d
Cir. 2007). This isthe exact circumstancesrrounding Hall's sentence: his plea to the
possession of short-barreled shotgun subjected him to a prison sentencetehuetrssee26
U.S.C. 8§ 5871, anthe factual circumstances of the offense (to which Hall stipulated as part of
his plea agreement) were not applied to increase the range of legally gdensiesience, but
were merely assessed as part of the advisory guidelines to aid the Caudiscrétionary
sentencing decisioseeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF No. 56 a 6—8. Accordingsfief onthe ground
that Hall's counsel failed to object to alleged sentencing esatsnied

E. AllegedJohnson Claim

After the Court had screened Hall's Petition, but before the government hadisfiled i
Answer, Hall filed a submission seeking to amend his Petition by adding a claimamiuic the
Supreme Court’s decision dohnson v. United Statek35 S. Ct. 2551 (2015). (ECF No. 7.)

Hall argueghat, in light of the holding idohnsonit was improper for the Court to enhance his
Sentencing Guidelines offense level based on facksded in Schedule A of the plea agreement

and to impose a sentence based on that calculat). (
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Even assuming that this amendment is permissible, this claimailéall has not
adequately raisedJohnsorclaim. In Johnsonthe Supreme Court held that enhancing a
criminal defendant’s sentenoader the Armedareer Criminal Actipon a finding that the
defendant had committed three prior violent felonies would violate due process ridling fi
relied uporthe Act’s so-called residual clause, which included within the definition of a violent
felony, any felonythat “involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury
to another.” SeeJohnson 135 S. Ct. at 2555-6Fpecifically, theJohnsonCourt found the
residual clause to be unconstitutionally vague because it “leaves gravewmtg@bout how to
estimate the risk posed by a crime” and because it “leaves uncertainty about ttowshkiut
takes for a crime to qualify as a violent felonyld. @t 2557-58.) Subsequently,Beckles v.
United States  U.S. __ , 137 S. Ct. 886 (2017), the Supreme Court found that a similar
residual clause in the Sentenci@gidelineswasnotsusceptible to a vagueness challeragthe
Guidelines “do ot fix the permissible range of sentences,” but instead “merely guide the
exercise of a court’s discretion in choosing an appropriate sentence théhstatutory range.”

Id. at 892-95.

Hall's challenge bears almost no similarities to the facts or lsga¢s considered in
Johnsorand its progeny. Hall does not raise a challenge based on the residual clause of the
Armed Career Criminal Act nan similar language contained in any other statute. He does not
make an argument that any statutory provision is unconstitutionally vémueed, Hall's
arguments in support of this clasolelyconcern enhancements under the Sentencing Guidelines
based on the circumstances of the offense being punished, not enhancements dragedioon
convictions. $eeECF No. 7.) Thus, it is clear that Hall does not presdohasorclaim.

Instead, Hall’'s arguments concerning sentencing enhancements basedactutie f
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circumstances of the offense seeore closely related to thgpprendiline of cases The Court
has already considered and rejected these arguments under controlling pre&ederaingly,
relief is denied on the arguments asserted in Hall’s first attempt to amend his petition

F. AllegedRosemond Claim

After his first motionto amend, but before the government had filed its answer, Hall filed
a second motion to amend his petition. (ECF No. I®this amendment, Pierce argues, as an
extension of hisneffectiveassistance clainthat counsel was ineffective undee Supreme
Court’s holding inRosemond v. United Stat&§2 U.S. 65 (2014)y permitting a plea
agreement that stipulateddsentencinguidelines enhancement fdall’s use of a firearm in
connection with a felony and by failing to object to the €eumpostion of a sentencing
enhancement on this basis. (Mem. of Law in Supp., ECF No. 10, at ECF pp. 8-16.) Hall
reasonghat, undeRosemonghe “could not be subjected to such an enhancement under the
guidelines unless the government had met its burden of showing that petitédinead advance
knowledge that his alleged codefendant would possesse [sic] a firearm duringnlye fel
offense.” (d. at ECF pp. 8-9 (internal quotation marks omitted).) Hall concludes that his
sentence should not have been enhanced by the possession of a weapon by his codefendant,
Nance as evidence did not establish that Hall “had advance knowledge of the urat ECF
p.9.)

As with Hall's first attempt to amend his petition, even assuming that his proposed
amendmat is permissible, it mugail on the merits.In Rosemongthe Supreme Court
considered the government’s burden of proof when prosecuting a defendant for aiding and
abetting the use of a firearm in connection with a drafficking or violent crime, irviolation

of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 924(c)SeeRosemond572 U.S. at 67-83. The Court reviewed the aiding and
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abetting statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2, in connection with 8 924(c) and concluded that a conviction for
aiding and abetting a 8 924(c) violation requires a showing that the defendant had advance
knowledge of a confederate’s intent to use a gun iprbdicatecrime. Id. at 76-81. The Court
further explained that aiding or abetting liglyidepended on the defendant having knowledge of
the confederate’s intent to use a gun far enough in advance that the defendant colshsél

to abandon the schem8&ee idat 78.

The only commonality that this case has vRtbsemondk the fact that Hall was indicted
for aviolation of § 924(cf SeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 12, 18, & 38. The § 924(c) charge
against Hall was dropped as part of his plea deal, and he was thus neither convicted nor
sentenced under 18 U.S.C. § 2 or § 92485eCrim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 44 & 56.
Accordingly, at no point did the Court make a finding whether Hall could be found liable for
aiding and abetting a 8 924(c) violation. Hall's extensive arguments regdrndihgltling in
Rosemondre not @asis for grating him habeas reliefRatherHall's contentionsseem to
present a&ontinuation of higApprendibased argument that his counsel was ineffective for
failing to challenge allegedly improper sentencing enhancemé&hesCourt has already
rejected this argument for the reasons discussed above. Hall's invocd®@iosenhondioes not
change this analysis; Krasny’s representation was not deficient basexifaituine to raise
arguments unddRosemongdwhich were inapplicabl® the circumstances her8ee, e.g.

Barrera v. United State<iv. A. No. M-14-503, 2017 WL 4326090, at *2 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 6,

® While every counfexcept for a conspiracy chargejhe indictments against Hall and his
codefendant Nance includeitations to 18 U.S.C. § 2, there is no indicatibwbether each
defendant would be charged as a principal or accompeeCrim. No. 13-684, ECF Nos. 12,

18, & 38. As the Supreme Court has noted, however, 18 U.S.C. § 2 “abolishe[d] the distinction
between principals and accessories and [made] thgmrecipals.” Standefer v. United States

447 U.S. 10, 18 (1980) (alterations in original) (quotitagnmer v. United State871 U.S. 620,

628 (1926)).
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2017) (“There is no authority to support Movant’s position B@déemonapplies to his sentence
or conviction. . ... InsunkRosemonds in applicable to Movant’'s case and provides no basis
for collateral relief under § 2255.”) Furthermore, Hall cannot show any likelihooditieeent
outcome had Krasny raised these inapplicable arguments during sentencing. ngtgoedief
on this ground is denied.
V. CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c), a litigant may not appeal a final order in a RRFeding
unless the judge or a circuit justice issues a certificate of appealability ()CORAat section
further directs courts to issue a COA “only if the applicant has made a siddshoting of the
denial of a constitutional right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)&e als®28 U.S.C. § 2255(d)‘A
petitioner satisfies this standard by demonstrating that jurists of reasdndesagree with the
district court's resolution of his constitutional claims or that jurists could contedssues
presented are adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed MilleerEIl v. Cockrel| 537
U.S. 322, 327 (2003)In this case, the Court denies a certificate of appealability because jurists
of reason would not find it debatable that Hall has failed to make a substantial sbbttiag

denial of a constitutionalght.
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V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasonsaHlis § 2255 motions deniedon the merits Although courts
considering 8§ 2255 motions are generally directed to hold evidentiary hearisggpiairent
from the arguments before the Court and the record of the underlying criminal pnocied;
regadless of the evidence adduced at such a proceddafigyould notbe entiled to any relief

based on his motionSeeBooth,432 F.3dat 545. An appropriate order whie entered

DATED: SeptembeRl, 2018 /sl Freda L. Wolfson
FREDA L.WOLFSON
United States District Judge
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